
Page 1 of 1 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

PLAN COMMISSION 

 May 18, 2017 – 7:30 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Village Hall – 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 
 

Regular Meeting Called to Order 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call Taken 
Communications 
Approval of Minutes: Minutes of the May 4, 2017 Regular Meeting 
 
Item #1 WORKSHOP: FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH – 7025 179th STREET – PLAT OF 

CONSOLIDATION 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, First Baptist Church, 
approval for a Plat of Consolidation upon Annexation. The proposed Plat of Consolidation 
would combine PIN 28-31-300-013-0000 and PIN 28-31-300-014-0000 into a single 
parcel encompassing approximately 66,573 square feet (1.53 ± acres).  

 
Item #2 WORKSHOP: PARALLEL VERIZON CELL TOWER – 6775 PROSPERI DRIVE 

– SITE PLAN APPROVAL, SPECIAL USE PERMIT, AND A VARIATION FOR 
MAXIMUM HEIGHT 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval and consider recommending that the Village Board 
grant the Petitioner, Kathleen Groark of Insite, Inc. as agent for PI Tower Development 
LLC, Parallel Infrastructure, and Verizon Wireless, a Special Use Permit for a new 
personal wireless service facility (cell tower) in the southeast corner of the site at 6775 
Prosperi Drive in the ORI (Office and Restricted Industrial) Zoning District. Additionally, 
the Village of Tinley Park proposes to co-locate antennas on the aforementioned cell tower 
which brings the overall height of the cell tower to one hundred fourteen feet (114’); 
therefore, the Petitioner also requests a fourteen foot (14’) Variation from Section 
III.V.2.a. of the Zoning Ordinance where the maximum allowable height for a personal 
wireless service facility is one hundred feet (100’). 

 
Item #3 WORKSHOP: THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST 

CORNER OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN 
APPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval and consider recommending that the Village Board 
grant the Petitioner, Andrea Crowley of Griffin & Gallagher, LLC on behalf of Karli 
Mayher and DJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development and any related 
Exceptions to develop a one hundred forty-four (144) unit multi-family residential project 
(a.k.a. The Residence at Brookside Glen) at the properties generally located west of 
Magnuson Lane and John Michael Drive in the R-5 PD (Low Density Residential) Zoning 
District. 

 
Good of the Order 
Receive Comments from the Public 
Adjourn Meeting 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 1 of 14 
 

MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 

 
MAY 4, 2017 

 
The Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on May 
4, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Plan Commission:   Mark Moylan, Acting Chairman   

Kevin Bergthold 
    Peter Kroner 
    Tim Stanton 

Lori Kappel 
Ken Shaw 
Anthony Janowski (arrived at 7:52 p.m.) 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Ed Matushek III, Chairman 
 
Village Officials and Staff: Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director 
    Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
ACTING PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN MOYLAN called to order the Regular Meeting of the 
Plan Commission for May 4, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 
There were none. 
 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Minutes of the April 20, 2017 Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission were presented for approval.  A  
motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER SHAW, to approve  
the Minutes as presented. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  ACTING CHAIRMAN 
MOYLAN declared the Motion approved. 
 
  
 

  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 2 of 14 
 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE MAY 4, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #1: PUBLIC HEARING:  MCDONALDS – 17171 HARLEM AVENUE – SITE PLAN 

APPROVAL AND VARIATIONS FOR WALL SIGNAGE 
 
 Consider granting Site Plan approval and recommending that the Village Board grant the 

Petitioner, James E. Olguin of Goldstine, Skrodzki, Russian, Nemec and Hoff Ltd., on 
behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC., the following Variations for wall signage for the 
McDonald’s at 17171 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 (General Business and Commercial) 
Zoning District: 

 
1. A Variation from Section IX.D.3.a. of the Zoning Ordinance for three (3) 

additional wall signs where the maximum number of wall signs allowed is two 
(2) to allow for a total of five (5) wall signs on the building; 

 
2. A twelve-inch (12”) letter height Variation from Section IX.D.3.a. of the Zoning 

Ordinance where the maximum allowable letter height is thirty inches (30”) to 
allow a maximum height of forty-two inches (42”); and 

 
3. A 2.83 square foot Variation from Section IX.D.3.a. of the Zoning Ordinance 

where the maximum sign face area for wall signage for the north building 
frontage is forty-four (44) square feet to allow for a total sign face area of 46.83 
square feet on the north side of the building. 

 
These Variations would allow for the following wall signage to be installed on the 
building as part of the McDonald’s interior/exterior remodel project: 

 
1. North façade: One (1) “M” logo sign (14 square feet) and one (1) “McDonald’s” 

sign (32.83 square feet); 
 
2. South façade: One (1) “M” logo sign (14 square feet); 
 
3. East façade: No signage proposed; and 
 
4. West façade: One (1) “M” logo sign (14 square feet) and one (1) “McDonald’s” 

sign (32.83 square feet).” 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 3 of 14 
 

Present were the following  
Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan, Acting Chairman 

Kevin Bergthold 
Peter Kroner 

    Tim Stanton    
    Lori Kappel 

Ken Shaw 
Anthony Janowski (arrived at 7:52 p.m.) 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s): Ed Matushek III, Chairman 
 
Village Officials and Staff: Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director 
    Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
 
Guests:    James E. Olguin, Goldstine, Skrodzki, Russian, Nemec, and Hoff, Ltd 

Andrew Uttan, V3 Companies 
Howard Neal, Operations Manager for McDonald’s Franchisee 

     Christopher Stepp, McDonald’s 
 
 
A Motion was made by  COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER SHAW to open 
the Public Hearing on MCDONALDS – 17171 HARLEM AVENUE – SITE PLAN APPROVAL AND 
VARIATIONS FOR WALL SIGNAGE.  The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN declared the Motion approved. 
 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice 

regarding the Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with 
State law and Village requirements.   

  
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN requested anyone present in the audience who wished to give 
testimony, comment, engage in cross-examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be 
sworn in. 
  
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, stated the Petitioner is seeking Site Plan Approval and Variations for 
signage.  The project includes exterior improvements to change the façade materials and colors, signage, 
landscaping, a new trash enclosure, adjusted parking and reconfiguring the site to incorporate a two-lane 
drive-thru, and improved pedestrian connectivity to the restaurant. 
 
MS. KISLER showed a rendering of the proposed façade. The Petitioner will be using brick with stone 
accent material.  The surrounding zoning for the property is primarily business/commercial with some 
residential to the east and the south.  Jewel/Osco is the primary tenant in the shopping center.  Shell Gas 
Station is nearby and there is a medical office to the west.  It is part of the Tinley Park Commons 
Shopping Center. MS. KISLER showed the Site Plan, highlighting the new drive thru lanes and the 
associated improvements and elevations.  MS. KISLER presented the Landscape Plan and noted at the 
last meeting some improvements were recommended.  The island south of the south drive thru lane was 
too small and it was recommended that it be made larger. Additionally, the landscape island at the 
southeast corner of the site was proposed with gravel mulch. Staff recommended that loose stone be 
prohibited in this instance and that the Petitioner use a mortared/embedded stone instead.  
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 4 of 14 
 

MS. KISLER presented a rendering of the proposed signage.  Variances are required largely due to the 
“M:” logos. She discussed the existing signage versus the proposed signage and why the variances were 
needed. 
 
MS. KISLER played the Petitioner’s video of the proposed video menu boards.  The Petitioner proposes 
to utilize one double menu board and one single menu board in each drive thru lane for a total of six (6) 
menu boards. Staff recommended that the Plan Commission consider prohibiting temporary signage for 
the site since the menu boards would have rotating messages similar to an electronic message center sign.  
 
JAMES E. OLGUIN, Petitioner, noted the proposed menu board signs are smaller than the current signs 
and they really can only be seen from the drive thru lanes by the customers who are already in the lane.  
The double board is the menu and the single board is for new or recommended items.  Temporary signs 
will be located on another part of the main building and can be seen by people driving on the street or 
within the parking lot. He noted that these menu boards are essentially television screens. 
 
PAULA WALLRICH, Interim Community Development Director, stated if the Commissioners are 
concerned about setting a precedent but want to approve these signs in exchange for downsizing the menu 
boards, they can approve them but need to recognize the situation as uniqueand specifically attributable to 
the perceived impact of the signs.  They have downsized the menu board and cleaned it up with LED 
lighting. She stated that these signs (the menu boards versus the temporary signs) are serving different 
audiences.   
 
COMMISSIONER SHAW redirected the disicussion back to considering variances for the proposed wall 
signs. He asked if the menu boards required variances and what they should be considering with the menu 
boards.  
 
MR. OLGUIN stated the LED menu boards are the new national standard and you will be seeing these in 
the future at all drive thru restaurants.   
 
COMMISSIONERS JANOWSKI and KRONER stated they would support the menu boards as proposed.  
 
MR. OLGUIN stated, for clarification, that the condition of exchanging the gravel for something more 
substantial is acceptable.  He noted that the property owner stated that landscaping would be the 
preference for the operator at this location but otherwise would accept Staff’s recommendation for the 
embedded stone materials. 
 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN, hearing no further comments from the Petitioner or from the public, 
asked for a Motion to close the Public Hearing. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, seconded by COMMISSIONER KRONER, to 
close the Public Hearing on MCDONALDS – 17171 HARLEM AVENUE – SITE PLAN APPROVAL  
AND VARIATIONS FOR WALL SIGNAGE. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN declared the motion approved.   
 
MS. KISLER noted the Standards for Site Plan Approval: 
 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
• The McDonald’s restaurant and drive-thru is a permitted use in the B-3 Zoning 

District. 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 5 of 14 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, 
and drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

• The McDonald’s restaurant and drive-thru has existing in harmony with the adjacent 
uses for many years, dating all the way back to about 1975. The proposed 
improvements will create better access, increase landscaping, and allow for better 
safety for vehicles and pedestrians frequenting the site. 
 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site 
provides for safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but 
on adjacent roadways as well. 

• The proposed plans will improve vehicular ingress, egress, and circulation within the 
site because the plans will only allow drive-thru customers to line up on the west side 
of the building, which will reduce the congestion coming in from both of the Harlem 
Avenue access points. There will be new directional signage and striping to aid 
customers in navigating the site.  
 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  
• The proposed plans will add new sidewalks and crosswalk striping to ensure 

pedestrian safety. 
 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter 
(including public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in 
harmony with adjacent land uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any 
part of the Site Plan area not used for buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be 
landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs. 

• The proposed plans provide an adequate amount and variety of landscaping. 
 

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 
• The plans indicate a new trash enclosure at the southeast corner of the east parking 

lot. The proposed trash enclosure will be made of masonry materials to match the 
façade of the McDonald’s building. 

 
MS. KISLER noted the Finding of Facts for the Variations: 
 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 
the conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

• The variance request stems mainly from the Applicant’s desire to use the “M” logo, 
which is separated from the “McDonald’s” lettering and is proposed to be located on 
the stone accent walls of the façade. 

• The “M” logos were previously painted on the walls of the building and appear to be 
larger than the proposed “M” wall signs, so the new signage would be an overall 
reduction in sign face area from what exists. 

• The proposed “M” logos are part of the national branding and architectural 
enhancements of the proposed architecture. 
 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 6 of 14 
 

• The request is unique in that the proposed “M” logo has been separated in accordance 
with national branding and proposed architecture.  The total area of proposed signs is 
less than what is allowed for the total of both facades. 
 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
• The variance request for additional signage will not alter the character of the locality 

because it will not be an increase in comparison to the signage at the site today. 
• The proposed signage is complimentary to the architecture of the façade. 

 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN, hearing no further comments, asked for a Motion on the Site Plan 
Approval. 

 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER SHAW, to 
recommend that the Village Board to grant the Applicant, James E. Olguin of Goldstine, Skrodzki, 
Russian, Nemec, and Hoff, Ltd. on behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC, Site Plan Approval to complete 
exterior improvements at the McDonald’s at 17171 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 (General Business and 
Commercial) Zoning District in accordance with plans as noted on the List of Reviewed Plan within the 
Staff Report. The site improvements include changes to the façade materials and colors, new signage, 
additional landscaping, a new trash enclosure, reconfiguring the site to incorporate a two-lane drive-thru, 
and providing improved pedestrian connectivity to the restaurant. 
 
…with the following condition: 

1. That the Landscape Plan be revised to substitute the proposed gravel mulch with 
either granite cobbles, Belgium block (or similar material), or actual landscaping. 

 
AYE:   PLAN COMMISSIONERS TIM STANTON, PETER KRONER, KEN SHAW, 

KEVIN BERGTHOLD, ANTHONY JANOWSKI, LORI KAPPEL, AND 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MARK MOYLAN 

 
NAY:    None 

 
ABSENT:   CHAIRMAN ED MATUSHEK 

 
The Motion was approved unanimously by roll call.  ACTING CHAIMAN MOYLAN declared the 
Motion approved.  
 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN, hearing no further comments, asked for a Motion on the Variations. 

 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER SHAW, seconded by COMMISSIONER KRONER to 
recommend that the Village Board to grant the Applicant, James E. Olguin of Goldstine, Skrodzki, 
Russian, Nemec, and Hoff, Ltd. on behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC the following Variations for wall 
signage for the McDonald’s at 17171 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 (General Business and Commercial) 
Zoning District: 

1. A Variation from Section IX.D.3.a. of the Zoning Ordinance for three (3) additional wall signs 
where the maximum number of wall signs allowed is two (2) to allow for a total of five (5) wall 
signs on the building; 
 

2. A twelve-inch (12”) letter height Variation from Section IX.D.3.a. of the Zoning Ordinance where 
the maximum allowable letter height is thirty inches (30”) to allow a maximum height of forty-
two inches (42”); and 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 7 of 14 
 

3. A 2.83 square foot Variation from Section IX.D.3.a. of the Zoning Ordinance where the 
maximum sign face area for wall signage for the north building frontage is forty-four (44) square 
feet to allow for a total sign face area of 46.83 square feet on the north side of the building.  
 

These Variations would allow for the following wall signage to be installed on the building as part of the 
McDonald’s interior/exterior remodel project: 
 

1. North façade: One (1) “M” logo sign (14 square feet) and one (1) “McDonald’s” sign (32.83 
square feet); 
 

2. South façade: One (1) “M” logo sign (14 square feet); 
 

3. East façade: No signage proposed; and 
 

4. West façade: One (1) “M” logo sign (14 square feet) and one (1) “McDonald’s” sign (32.83 
square feet).” 
 
AYE:   PLAN COMMISSIONERS TIM STANTON, PETER KRONER, KEN SHAW, 

KEVIN BERGTHOLD, ANTHONY JANOWSKI, LORI KAPPEL, AND 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MARK MOYLAN 

 
NAY:    None 

 
ABSENT:   CHAIRMAN ED MATUSHEK 

 
The Motion was approved unanimously by roll call.  ACTING CHAIMAN MOYLAN declared the 
Motion approved.  
 

 

 

 

  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 8 of 14 
 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE MAY 4, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #2: PUBLIC HEARING: TULEJA – 17800 HIGHLAND AVENUE – MAP 

AMENDMENT (REZONING) FROM R-1 TO R-2 
 
 Consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Nicholas Tuleja, a 

Map Amendment (Rezoning) for the property at 17800 Highland Avenue to rezone the 
property from R-1 (Single-Family Residential) to R-2 (Single-Family Residential). 

 
Present were the following  

Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan, Acting Chairman 
Kevin Bergthold 
Peter Kroner 

    Tim Stanton    
    Lori Kappel 

Ken Shaw 
Anthony Janowski (arrived at 7:52 p.m.) 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s): Ed Matushek III, Chairman 
 
Village Officials and Staff:        Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director 
    Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 

 
Guest (s):   Nicholas Tuleja 
 
 

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, to 
open the Public Hearing on TULEJA – 17800 HIGHLAND AVENUE – MAP AMENDMENT 

(REZONING) FROM R-1 TO R-2. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN declared the Motion approved. 

 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice 

regarding the Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with 
State law and Village requirements.   

 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN requested anyone present in the audience who wished to give 
testimony, comment, engage in cross-examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be 
sworn in. 
 
PAULA WALLRICH, Interim Community Development Director, stated Nicholas Tuleja is requesting the 
rezoning of his property located at 17800 Highland Avenue.   He purchased the property in 2015 and 
annexed it in 2016 with the intent of demolishing the existing structure and constructing a new single-
family structure. The default zoning for annexed property is R-1—the most restrictive residential zoning 
district. 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 9 of 14 
 

MS. WALLRICH stated this neighborhood is unique and complex, offering little in the way of a dominant 
land use or zoning pattern. Typically zoning remains constant within a block area.  This random pattern of 
zoning is a product of annexation over time rather than purposeful zoning.  As parcels are annexed over 
time, there either was little need or requirement to rezone to the appropriate zoning district.  The vast 
majority of these properties are non-conforming in that they have single-family dwellings that do not 
meet the R-1 or R-2 minimum size requirements. Of the 144 properties in the six (6) block area around 
the subject parcel, only four (4) meet the 3,500 square foot minimum dwelling requirement for the R-1 
Zoning District and only twenty-one (21) meet the 2,800 square foot minimum dwelling size requirement 
for the R-2 Zoning District.  Therefore, out of the 144 properties in the area, there are 123 non-
conforming properties.    
 
MS. WALLRICH noted the lot sizes vary and are inconsistent throughout the subdivision. The smallest 
lot measures close to 12,000 SF and the largest is about 40,000 SF.  The minimum lot size for the R-1 and 
the R-2 Districts are 20,000 SF and 13,000 SF. Most lots meet or exceed the minimum lot size 
requirements for both districts.   
 
MS. WALLRICH explained that Staff recommends rezoning 17800 Highland Avenue from the R-1 
Zoning District to the R-2 Zoning District.  She noted the Village wishes to to encourage new investment 
and the Petitioner has already begun the process by demolishing the home that existed on the site.  The 
minimum dwelling size within the R-2 Zoning District is more in line with the current market trend.  She 
noted that other properties in this area should be part of a comprehensive rezoning at a later point in time. 
 
MS. WALLRICH presented Findings of Fact related to Map Amendments (Rezoning): 
 

1. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; the general area 
is comprised of residential uses with dwelling sizes less than the existing R-1 zoning district. 
A designation of R-2 will allow the property owner to construct a home a minimum of 2,800 
SF; 
 

2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question; the 
zoning classifications in the general area are inconsistent except for the larger area to the 
north which is R-2.  Many of the lots are zoned R-1 rezoning and do not meet R-1 
requirements; 
 

3. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning 
classification; the lot is vacant however the pre-existing home did not meet R-1 zoning 
requirements; 
 

4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including 
changes, if any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; the trend is for 
smaller homes; and  
 

5. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its 
official map Comprehensive Plan indicates residential. 
 

ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN asked if there were any additional comments from the Petitioner or 
the public. There were none. He asked for a motion to close the Public Hearing. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER SHAW, to close 
the  Public Hearing on TULEJA – 17800 HIGHLAND AVENUE – MAP AMENDMENT (REZONING) 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 10 of 14 
 

FROM R-1 TO R-2.  The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  ACTING CHAIRMAN 
MOYLAN declared the Motion approved.   
 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN, hearing no further comments, asked for a motion. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, to 
recommend that the Village Board to grant the Applicant, Nicholas Tuleja, a Map Amendment (Rezoning) 
of his property located at 17800 Highland Avenue, from R-1 (Single-Family Residential) to R-2 (Single-
Family Residential) and adopt Findings of Fact submitted by the Applicant and Findings of Fact proposed 
by Village Staff and the Plan Commission at this meeting. 

AYE:   PLAN COMMISSIONERS TIM STANTON, PETER KRONER, KEN SHAW, 
ANTHONY JANOWSKI, LORI KAPPEL, AND ACTING CHAIRMAN MARK 
MOYLAN 

 
NAY:    None 
 
ABSTAIN: PLAN COMMISSIONER KEVIN BERGTHOLD 

 
ABSENT:   CHAIRMAN ED MATUSHEK 

 
The Motion was approved by roll call.  ACTING CHAIMAN MOYLAN declared the Motion approved.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 11 of 14 
 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE MAY 4, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #3: PUBLIC HEARING (CONTINUED):  TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE VILLAGE 

OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE (SECTION II AND SECTION IX) 
RELATED TO SIGN REGULATIONS 

 
Consider recommending that the Village Board approve Text Amendments to Section II 
(Definitions) and Section IX (Sign Regulations) of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance.  The proposed Text Amendments include but are not limited to: regulations 
for sign face area, sign height, quantity of signs, location of signs, sign materials, 
regulations for signage in the B-5 Zoning District, sign regulations for special areas and 
particular uses, temporary signs, nonconforming signs, and definitions for terms related 
to signage.  

 
Present were the following  

Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan, Acting Chairman 
Kevin Bergthold 
Peter Kroner 

    Tim Stanton    
    Lori Kappel 

Ken Shaw 
Anthony Janowski (arrived at 7:52 p.m.) 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s): Ed Matushek III, Chairman 
 
Village Officials and Staff: Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director 
    Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
 
 

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER SHAW to open 
the continuation of the Public Hearing on the TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK ZONING ORDINANCE (SECTION II AND SECTION IX) RELATED TO SIGN 
REGULATIONS. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  ACTING CHAIRMAN 
MOYLAN declared the Motion approved. 
 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN noted there was no one present in the audience to be sworn in.   

 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, stated Staff has been continuing to draft revisions to Sign Regulations 
of the Zoning Ordinance. The Village Attorney advised Staff to propose changes that would strengthen 
the legality of the Village’s Sign Regulations. 
 
MS, KISLER went through all the changes in the Working Draft for Section IX (Sign Regulations) and 
the new signage-related definitions that would be added within Section II (Definitions). Notable 
changes/discussion topics included: 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 12 of 14 
 

• Page 3 – b – Political Signs – Removing “Residential” so these regulations would apply to all 
properties.  
 

• Page 12 – c – Location of Freestanding Signs – Must be set back a minimum of 10 feet from all 
property lines. 
 

• Page 13/14 – Multi-tenant Freestanding Sign Panel Consistency – A Straw Poll was taken by 
Commissioners to determine their visual preference for regulation of the multi-tenant panel 
design on freestanding signs. The poll results included:  

o Option B (Same background color only): Commissioners Shaw, Kappel, and Moylan 
o Option C (Same background color and font color): None 
o Option D (Same background color, font color, and font face): Commissioners Bergthold, 

Stanton, Janowski, and Kroner 
 

• Page 15 – c – Awnings and Canopies – Remove c. 
 

• Page 24 – #2 & #4 – Electronic Message Centers/Dynamic Variable Electronic Message – There 
was a brief discussion on prohibiting these types of signs; however, Staff inventoried the existing 
signs and found that there are about thirty (30) of these types of signs in the community and it 
would create a lot of nonconformities to prohibit them all together. Instead of prohibiting them, 
Staff proposed to place a restriction on how close one electronic message sign can be to another 
electronic message sign and reduce the allowable sign face area for the electronic message part of 
a sign. 
 

• Page 28 – a – Discussion regarding Signs Accessory to Drive-Thru Uses – Staff proposed to 
change this regulation to allow the display of additional freestanding signage (i.e. multiple menu 
boards if there are multiple drive-thru lanes) and 45 sq. ft. of sign face area per drive-thru lane.    

 
• Page 32- 38 – Section II – Definitions of Signs – to be added alphabetically to Section II. Staff 

reviewed the new definitions and corresponding graphics. 
 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN stated there was no audience present for comments. Hearing no 
further comments, he asked for a motion. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER SHAW, seconded by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, to 
close the  Public Hearing on TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING 
ORDINANCE (SECTION II AND SECTION IX) RELATED TO SIGN REGULATIONS. The Motion 
was approved unanimously by voice call.  ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN declared the Motion 
approved.   
 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN, hearing no further comments, asked for a motion. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, to 
recommend that the Village Board to approve Text Amendments to Section II (Definitions) and Section 
IX (Sign Regulations) excluding Section IX.b.2.j of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance as 
indicated in Staff’s most recent draft of the comprehensive Sign Regulation Text Amendments, dated 
05/04/2017, with the following revisions:  

1. That the Section IX.L.3. regarding drive-thru signage would be revised as discussed and agreed to 
in the Plan Commission meeting tonight.   



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 13 of 14 
 

 
AYE:   PLAN COMMISSIONERS TIM STANTON, PETER KRONER, KEN SHAW, 

KEVIN BERGTHOLD, ANTHONY JANOWSKI, LORI KAPPEL, AND 
ACTING CHAIRMAN MARK MOYLAN 

 
NAY:    None 

 
ABSENT:   CHAIRMAN ED MATUSHEK 

 
The Motion was approved unanimously by roll call.  ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN declared the 

Motion approved.   
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, seconded by COMMISSIONER KRONER to 
recommend that the Village Board to approve Text Amendments to Section IX.D.2,j. of the Village of 
Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance as indicated in Staff’s most recent draft of the comprehensive Sign 
Regulation Text Amendments, dated 05/04/2017 using Option D (Regulating the Same Background 
Color, Font Color and Font Style for Panels on Multi-Tenant Signs) 

AYE:   PLAN COMMISSIONERS TIM STANTON, PETER KRONER, KEN SHAW, 
KEVIN BERGTHOLD, AND ANTHONY JANOWSKI 

 
NAY:   PLAN COMMISSIONERS LORI KAPPEL AND ACTING CHAIRMAN 

MARK MOYLAN 
 

ABSENT:   CHAIRMAN ED MATUSHEK 
 
The Motion was approved by roll call.  ACTING CHAIRMAN MOYLAN declared the Motion approved.   
 
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             May 4, 2017           

Page 14 of 14 
 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 
 
MS. WALLRICH provided the following updates: 
 

• The Boulevard (South Street) submitted plans for a mixed-use project 
• Portillo’s submitted plans for a drive-thru expansion 
• Tinley Park Corporate Center submitted plans for a 300.000 sq. ft. spec building 
• Staff is speaking with a developer that owns property north of the Union Square development 

about constructing single-family attached dwellings 
• The Residences of Brookside Glen will be coming to Plan Commission for a workshop soon 
• Verizon’s Cell Tower on Prosperi Drive will be coming to Plan Commission for a workshop soon 
• New Building Official starting next Monday – Ken Bauer 
• Staff is working on an annexation agreement for First Baptist Church 
• Demo Rogers Hair Salon is in progress and Staff is working on demo for the former Clark Gas 

Station 
• Avenue Animal Hospital is moving forward with Phase II of their building addition, which 

obtained Site Plan Approval in 2012 
 
 
RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
No one was present in the audience for public comment. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business, a Motion was made by COMISSIONER JANOWSKI, seconded by 
COMMISSIONER STANTON, to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of May 4, 2017 
at 9:59 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  ACTING PLAN COMMISSION 
CHAIRMAN MOYLAN declared the meeting adjourned.   
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT 
May 18, 2017 

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH – PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION 
7025 179th Street 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Applicant, First Baptist Church, proposes to consolidate their two (2) parcels into 
one (1) single lot at the time that the property annexes into the Village. The Village is 
currently working with the Applicant to develop an Annexation Agreement. The 
Agreement acknowledges that the combined parcel is less than the two (2) acre minimum 
requirement for churches; however, the Agreement notes this as a legal nonconformity. 
The consolidation of the parcels will bring the site closer to conformance with the 
minimum lot size for churches. A draft Plat has been included in the meeting packet for 
the Plan Commission’s review. 

MOTION TO CONSIDER 

If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motion 
would read:  

 “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant approval for a Plat of 
Consolidation to the Applicant, First Baptist Church, to combine PIN 28-31-300-013-
0000 and PIN 28-31-300-014-0000 into a single parcel encompassing approximately 
66,573 square feet (1.53 ± acres), located at 7025 179th Street.” 

…with the following conditions: 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

Applicant 
First Baptist Church 

Property Location 
7025 179th Street 

PINs 
28-31-300-013-0000 and
28-31-300-014-0000

Zoning 
Currently unincorporated; 
proposed zoning upon 
annexation will be the 
default of R-1 (Single-
Family Residential) Zoning 
District 

Approvals Sought 
Plat of Consolidation 

Project Planner 
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Interim Community 
Development Director 

Stephanie Kisler, AICP 
Planner I 



VILLAGE CLERK CERTIFICATE

                                                                                                             
VILLAGE CLERK

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE
STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF WILL )  S.S.

I further certify that I have resubdivided the same into one lot as shown on the  hereon drawn plat.
This plat correctly represents said survey and subdivision in every detail.  Monuments shown in
place and located.

Property contains  66,751 sq. ft., (1.532 acres), more or less.

I do further state that:

1.  I have examined Community Panel Number 17031C0708J  effective date: August 19, 2008,
      as issued by the Federal Emergency Management Agency with reference to the above named
      tract, and find the property to be in Zone X (unshaded), which is an area determined to be
      outside the 0.2% annual chance (500-year floodplain).

2.  This subdivision is within the corporate limits of the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois.

3.  All lot corners and points of curvature have been monumented according to the
      Plat Act as amended.

4.  All distances are shown in feet and decimal parts thereof.

5.  This Professional Service conforms to the current Illinois
      Minimum Standards for a Boundary Survey.

      Given under my Hand and Seal at Mokena, Illinois,

                                                                              , A.D. 2017.
       JOSEPH A. SCHUDT & ASSOCIATES (184-001172)
       9455 Enterprise Drive,  Mokena, IL 60448
       Phone: 708-720-1000

BY: _________________________________________________
        Illinois Professional Land Surveyor No. 3152 (exp 11-30-18)

This is to state that I, D. Warren Opperman, Illinois Professional Land Surveyor No. 3152, have
surveyed and subdivided the property described in the above caption and more particularly
described as follows:

05-12-17

I hereby certify that there are no delinquent Special Assessments or unpaid
current Special Assessments on the above described property.

Dated this                    day of                                           , A.D. 2017.

Mail Future Tax Bills To :

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF TINLEY PARK
7025 W. 179th STREET
TINLEY PARK, IL 60477



                                                        ENGINEER                                                   

COUNTY OF COOK )  SS
STATE OF ILLINOIS )

SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE CERTIFICATE

To the best of our knowledge and belief the drainage of surface waters will not be changed by
the construction of such subdivision or any part thereof, or, that if such surface water drainage
will be changed, reasonable provisions have been made for the collection and discharge of
surface waters into public or private areas and/or drains which the subdivider has the right to
use, and that such surface waters will be planned for in accordance with generally accepted
engineering practices so as to reduce the likelihood of substantive damage to adjoining
property because of the construction  of the subdivision, and all work shall conform to the
requirements of THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, ILLINOIS.

Dated this         day of                     2017.

VILLAGE OFFICIAL CERTIFICATES

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK )     SS

Under the authority provided by Chapter 24, Illinois Revised Statues (65 ILCS),
enacted by the State Legislature of the State of Illinois  and the ordinances adopted
by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, this
plat was given approval by the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, as  follows:

Approved by the MAYOR AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES
at a meeting held on  ______________________.

__________________________________________________________
                                                      MAYOR

__________________________________________________________
                                               VILLAGE CLERK

COUNTY RECORDER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK )     S.S.

This Instrument ___________________________________ was filed for record in
The Recorder's Office of Cook County, Illinois, on the _______ day of _______________,
2017, at __________ o'clock ___ M. and recorded in Book ____________ of Plats on
Page ________________.

_______________________________________________________
                                        COUNTY RECORDER

                                  OWNER OR ATTORNEY                                                      

178th

A
V

E
.

S
A

Y
R

E

A
V

E
.

179th

TINLEY PARK, IL

INDICATES SITE LOCATION

VICINITY MAP
(NOT TO SCALE)

STREET

H
A

R
LE

M

STREET

BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF THE WEST 340 FEET OF LOT 1 AND THE WEST 340 FEET OF LOT 2,
IN BLOCK 4 IN ELMORE'S HARLEM AVENUE ESTATES, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE WEST HALF
OF SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS..

P.I.N. 28-31-300-013
          28-31-300-014

COUNTY OF COOK )  S.S.
STATE OF ILLINOIS )

OWNERS CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that First Baptist Church of Tinley Park, an Illinois Religious Corporation, is
the owner of the land described in the annexed plat, and has caused the same to be surveyed
and resubdivided, as indicated thereon, for the uses and purposes therein and has caused
and does hereby acknowledge and adopt the same under the style and title thereon indicated.

The undersigned hereby dedicates for public use the lands shown on this plat for
thoroughfares, streets, alleys and public services:  and hereby also reserves for the A.T.&T.
Telephone Company and the Commonwealth Edison Company, and the Village, the
easement provisions which are stated on their standard form which is attached hereto.

The undersigned further certifies that, to the best of their knowledge, the tracts, parcels, lots
and blocks described in this certificate lie within Community Consolidated School District
No. 146, Bremen High School District No. 228, and South Suburban College District No. 510.

Dated this _______ day of ________________ A.D. 20 ____.

______________________________________________ ( FINANCE TRUSTEE )

JAMES MINYARD

______________________________________________ ( BUILDING TRUSTEE )

RON CASAS

______________________________________________ ( GROUNDS TRUSTEE )

GERRY KOBEK

NOTARY CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK )  S.S.

I, ____________________________________________, a Notary Public in and for said County,
in the State aforesaid, do certify that  JAMES MINYARD,  Finance Trustee,  RON CASAS,
Building Trustee, and  GERRY KOBEK,  Grounds Trustee, of First Baptist Church of Tinley Park, an
Illinois Religious Corporation, are personally known to me to be the same persons whose names are
subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged
that they signed and delivered this instrument as their own free and voluntary act and as the free
and voluntary act of said Corporation, as given under my hand and Notarial Seal.

This __________ day of _____________________ A.D. 20___.

My Commission Expires: _____________________________

_____________________________________________________

NOTARY PUBLIC

THE EAST 175 FEET OF THE WEST 340 FEET OF LOT 1 AND THE EAST 175 FEET OF THE
WEST 340 FEET OF LOT 2, IN BLOCK 4 IN ELMORE'S HARLEM AVENUE ESTATES, BEING
A SUBDIVISION IN THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

AND

THE WEST 165 FEET OF LOT 1 AND THE WEST 165 FEET OF LOT 2, IN BLOCK 4 IN
ELMORE'S HARLEM AVENUE ESTATES, BEING A SUBDIVISION IN THE WEST HALF OF
SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.



( HERETOFORE            DEDICATED )



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
May 18, 2017 
 
Parallel Verizon Cell Tower 
Site Plan Approval & Special Use Permit 
6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Kathleen Groark of Insite, Inc. as agent for PI Tower Development LLC, 
Parallel Infrastructure, and Verizon Wireless, is seeking a Special Use Permit for a new 
personal wireless service facility (cell tower) in the southeast corner of the site at 6775 
Prosperi Drive in the ORI (Office and Restricted Industrial) Zoning District. Additionally, 
the Village of Tinley Park proposes to co-locate antennas on the aforementioned cell 
tower which brings the overall height of the cell tower to one hundred fourteen feet 
(114’); therefore, the Petitioner also requests a fourteen foot (14’) Variation from Section 
III.V.2.a. of the Zoning Ordinance where the maximum allowable height for a personal 
wireless service facility, which is one hundred feet (100’). 
 
The proposed cell tower stands ninety-five feet (95’) tall at the top of the monopole and 
one hundred feet (100’) tall at the top of the lightning rod. Additionally, the Village has 
requested to add antennas at the top of the structure, which would result in a total height 
of one hundred fourteen feet (114’). The proposed Verizon antennas would be at a height 
of about seventy feet (70’). The proposed cell tower would primarily serve the 
amphitheatre and adjacent roadways (I-80, Oak Park Avenue, Harlem Avenue, Ridgeland 
Avenue, 191st Street). Additionally, the cell tower can accommodate at least one other co-
location on the monopole in the future. 
 

 
 
 
Applicant 
Kathleen Groark of Insite, 
Inc. as agent for PI Tower 
Development LLC, Parallel 
Infrastructure, and Verizon 
Wireless 
 
 
Property Location 
6775 Prosperi Drive  
(SE Corner of the Site) 
 
 
PIN 
31-06-400-002-0000 
 
 
Zoning 
ORI (Office and Restricted 
Industrial) 
 
 
Approvals Sought 
Site Plan Approval, 
Special Use Permit, and a 
Variance 
 
 
 
 
 
Project Planner 
Stephanie Kisler, AICP 
Planner I 
 

IMAGE PLACEHOLDER 



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 2 of 14 
 

EXISTING SITE 
 
The Applicant proposes to locate the new cell tower at the southeast corner of the site. The site is owned by 
Community Services Foundation (CSF), which is a nonprofit agency that provides services to individuals with 
intellectual disabilities and chronic mental health disorders.  
 
The site (shown in yellow below) was constructed in the early 2000s. The site includes a 40,000 ± square foot 
building, about 50 parking spaces, landscaping, and a retention pond. 
 

 
 
 
  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 3 of 14 
 

ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
The site (pictures with a red border below) is zoned ORI, which stands for Office and Restricted Industrial. The 
purpose of this zoning district is to provide land for medium to large office buildings, research activities, and 
nonobjectionable industrial activities which are attractively landscaped and designed to create a “park-like” setting.  
The low intensity and limiting restrictions are intended to provide for permitted uses which will be compatible 
with adjacent residential and commercial developments. 
 
The site is also within the Urban Design Overlay District (UD-1), which is intended to establish and promote 
specific design standards concerned with the character and placement of non-residential buildings within the 
district, including parking and other accessory uses, as well as the role and nature of the spaces between the 
buildings and the public streets.  The intent of this district is to create development patterns that accommodate the 
automobile, but are primarily designed to promote non-motorized and public transportation movements to, within, 
and among properties.  This particular site was constructed prior to the adoption of UD-1. 
 
Surrounding zoning includes M-1 (General Manufacturing) to the north, west, and east, and ORI and M-1 to the 
south. Business zoning districts are located further to the west. The closest residential structure is about 2,000 feet 
away (located north of I-80). 
 

 
 
 
  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 4 of 14 
 

PROPOSED SITE PLAN 
 
The Site Plan includes the proposed cell tower and the related ground equipment, a six foot (6’) tall vinyl privacy 
fence around the ground equipment, and improvements to landscaping. 
 

 
Proposed Site Plan for Personal Wireless Service Facility Overlayed on Aerial Image 

 

 
Staff ’s Rendering of the Proposed Cell Tower Site 

 



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 5 of 14 
 

The proposed cell tower will have Verizon antennas centered at seventy feet (70’) and three antennas for the 
Village of Tinley Park: one centered at eighty feet (80’) and two at the top of the monopole with a maximum height 
of one hundred fourteen feet (114’). There is also room for a future co-location at ninety feet (90’).  

 

 
Proposed Elevation Showing Different Antennas in Color 

 
There will be an emergency generator and equipment cabinets at the base of the monopole. The Applicant has 
included a six foot (6’) tall beige vinyl privacy fence. The Plan Commission may wish to consider requesting  the 
Applicant increase the fence height to eight feet (8’) tall to provide maximum screening of the ground equipment. 
The Zoning Ordinance allows up to eight foot (8’) tall fencing when screening open storage (Section 
III.N.1.b.(5.)(a.)(iii.)). Since the intent of the Applicant’s privacy fence is to screen the equipment at the base of the 
monopole, a taller fence will aid in achieving optimal screening. 
 
Open Item #1: Consider increasing the height of the vinyl privacy fence to eight feet (8’). 
 

  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 6 of 14 
 

LANDSCAPING 
 
Staff notes that there is existing vegetation surrounding the site, which provides additional screening toward the 
subject site for the proposed cell tower. The Village’s Landscape Architect recommends concentrating on the 
landscaping in the north bufferyard (closest to Prosperi Drive) that has not been maintained over time. The 
Applicant has been directed to work with the property owner to make improvements to the landscaping per the 
previously approved Landscape Plan. However, the Village’s Landscape Architect reviewed the original Landscape 
Plan and offers two suggestions for changes: (1) update the cultivar of crabapple they are specifying because there 
are better options currently; (2) rather than doing a solid row of junipers along the edge of the parking lot, they 
need to break that up with other groupings of deciduous shrubs mixed in there as well so that there is not a solid 
evergreen wall. 
 
Open Item #2: Update the Landscape Plan to reflect improvements to the north bufferyard per the original 
Landscape Plan and suggestions from the Village’s Landscape Architect. 
 

 
Excerpt from the Approved Landscape Plan for 6775 Prosperi Drive (Showing the North Bufferyards) 

 
 

 
Aerial Image of North Bufferyards at 6775 Prosperi Drive (Spring 2016) 

  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 7 of 14 
 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT REQUEST 
 
Personal Wireless Service Facilities (cell towers) must have a Special Use Permit per Section III.V.1.b. of the Zoning 
Ordinance. Section III.V.1.b. states: 
 

b. Except as provided in Subsection V.1.a above, a Special Use Permit is required and may be 
requested pursuant to the Special Use process set forth in Section X.J for any use that satisfies the 
definition of personal wireless service facility, as defined herein, provided that the proposed 
location satisfies any one of the criteria listed below: 

  
(1) The proposed facility is a new structure on Village-owned property pursuant to an agreement 

with the Village and further provided that such facilities are so designed so as to allow and 
encourage co-location by other potential users; 

 
(2) The proposed facility is a new structure and is on property owned by a municipal body or 

district (e.g. library district, park district, school district, etc.).  The Petitioner must perform its 
due diligence and demonstrate there are no locations available that satisfy the criteria provided 
in V.1.a and V.1.b(1) above; 

 
(3) The proposed facility is within the M-1 General Manufacturing District and (a) is not within 

one thousand (1,000) feet of a Residential Zoning District, or (b) is separated from 
Residential Zoning Districts by a freeway or principal arterial as defined by the Village of 
Tinley Park Comprehensive Plan.  Further, the Petitioner must perform its due diligence and 
demonstrate there are no locations that satisfy the criteria provided in V.1.a, V.1.b(1) and 
V.1.b(2) above.  If any such locations do exist, the Special Use Permit may be denied; and 

 
(4) The proposed facility is attached to an existing structure within a non-residential or non-

historic District.  The Petitioner must perform its due diligence and demonstrate there are no 
locations that satisfy the criteria provided in V.1.a, V.1.b(1), V.1.b(2), and/or V.1.b(3) above.  If 
any such locations do exist, the Special Use Permit may be denied. 

 
The Zoning Ordinance does not provide explicit direction for new cell towers on sites that are not on property 
owned by a municipal body or district and properties that are not zoned M-1. In this instance, Staff determined that 
a Special Use Permit should be considered for the project so that the proposed cell tower can be properly evaluated 
by Village Staff, the Plan Commission, and the Village Board. 
 
The proposed cell tower meets the intent of Section III.V.1.b.(3). because is located on a site surrounded by parcels 
that are zoned M-1 (although the site itself is zoned ORI) and it is about 2,000 feet from residential properties. 
Additionally, the site is owned by a nonprofit agency.  The Applicant did their due diligence and worked with Staff 
to identify the best option to serve the target area. Regarding the need for the proposed cell tower, Staff is awaiting 
an additional review by an outside consultant to determine if there is a valid necessity for the cell tower in this 
area. Staff notes that the Village of Tinley Park has a need for additional antenna equipment to service this area and 
the Applicant has accommodated the Village’s needs on the proposed cell tower. 
 
 
 
 
  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 8 of 14 
 

VARIANCE REQUEST 
 
Personal Wireless Service Facilities (cell towers) are limited to a maximum height of one hundred feet (100’) per 
Section III.V.2. of the Zoning Ordinance. The proposed monopole, lightning rod, and necessary equipment for the 
Verizon antennas meet the height limitation. The Village of Tinley Park has requested to install necessary antennas, 
one of which is at a height of eighty feet (80’) and the others are at the top of the monopole and bring the overall 
height of the cell tower structure to one hundred fourteen feet (114’).  
 
According to the Village’s Technology Consultant, Max Machuta of Municipal Consulting Services, Inc., the Village 
needs the new antennas because: 
 

1. The Village requires additional coverage for the VHF Police, Fire and Public Safety Systems in the 
area to assist in communications for the Amphiheater and shopping complex adjacent to Harlem 
Avenue south of I-80. The proposed antenna site placement provides coverage for this area. 

 
2. The Village is implementing a new system for the Water and Sewer Department. One major issue is 

the ability to transmit data from the site at 183rd Street and Ridgeland Avenue to the primary 
collection site at the 84th Avenue Water Tower. Additionally, this site will house the South Side 
Water Meter Monitoring System.  

 
3. The placement of antennas is critical to the success of the site transceivers and microwave path 

systems. The antennas utilized by the Village for transceivers are omni-directional and require 
placement in a location that is not obstructed by other tower antennas or mounting hardware. The 
microwave dish placement is critical to where no obstructions of any type are in the path of the 
dishes on each. Therefore, open clearance on the tower is required as well as appropriate height to 
clear buildings and tree line tops. Note: The antennas are built in a manner called “shorted dipole” to 
prevent static discharge for lightning suppression. 

 
4. A cell-carrier tower is built to house cellular frames designed to hold multiple (sectorized) antennas 

(antennas that radiate 120 degrees) in a horizontal pattern encumbering ten feet (10’) of vertical 
space on the structure with five feet (5’) of vertical separation between frames. The Village is 
required to utilize space that will not obstruct the cellular frames or radiation patterns. Due to the 
length of the Village’s antennas, the space above all other frames at the top of the monopole is ideal 
because it allows for antennas that are longer than eight feet (8’) in length. 

 
The Village’s Technology Consultant also added that the study that was performed indicated that these heights 
were acceptable. By placing the antennas in this geographic location at the specified heights it will dramatically 
improve the radio communications (voice and data) in this area of the Village. 
 
In summary, Staff notes that the variance request is due to the Village’s need for improved coverage and the 
proposed locations of the Village’s antennas will adequately provide the necessary improvements without 
interfering with cellular carriers elsewhere on the monopole. 
 
 
  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 9 of 14 
 

SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 
Staff has identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 
 

1. Consider increasing the height of the vinyl privacy fence to eight feet (8’). 
 

2. Update the Landscape Plan to reflect improvements to the north bufferyard per the original Landscape Plan 
and suggestions from the Village’s Landscape Architect. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Following a successful workshop, proceed to a Public Hearing at the June 1, 2017 Plan Commission meeting. 
 
 
  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 10 of 14 
 

STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must 
be met. Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 
drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

 
c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 

safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as 
well. 

 
d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

 
e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 

public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 
uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 
buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 
shrubs. 

 
f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

 

 

  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 11 of 14 
 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
will provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values 
within the neighborhood; 
 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided; 
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 
other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  
Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 
the community as a whole. 

 
It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 
Permit is tied to the Applicant. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever 
apply to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to 
examine the conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 

 
 
 

  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 12 of 14 
 

STANDARDS FOR A VARIATION 
 
Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the 
regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented 
for each of the Standards for Variations listed below.  

 
1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 
 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 
 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 
difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts 
favorable to the Applicant have been established by the evidence: 
 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 
involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 
 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification; 
 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property; 
 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 
previous owner; 
 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 
 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of 
fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within 
the neighborhood. 

 
 

The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; the remaining standards are provided to 
help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff will prepare draft responses for the Findings of Fact 
within the next Staff Report.  
  



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 13 of 14 
 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

 T-1 Title Sheet Cellco 5/1/2017 
 C-1 Overall Site Plan Cellco 5/1/2017 
 C-1.1 Site Plan Cellco 5/1/2017 
 C-2 Enlarged Sheet Plan Cellco 5/1/2017 
 C-2.1 Demolition Plan and Notes Cellco 5/1/2017 
 C-3 Equipment Concrete Skid Foundation Plan Cellco 2/9/2017 
 C-4 Generator Foundation Details Cellco 3/16/2017 
 C-4.1 Gas Piping Details Cellco 5/1/2017 
 ANT-1 Tower Elevation and Notes Cellco 5/1/2017 
 ANT-2 Antenna Information Cellco 1/27/2017 
 ANT-3 Antenna Information Cellco 3/13/2017 
 ANT-4  Antenna Information Cellco 1/27/2017 
 ANT-5 Antenna Information Cellco 2/9/2017 
 EQ-1 Equipment Concrete Skid Floor Dimension Plan Cellco 2/9/2017 
 EQ-2 Equipment  Concrete Skid Elevations Cellco 1/27/2017 
 EQ-3 Equipment Concrete Skid Elevations Cellco 1/27/2017 
 D-1 Site Grounding Plan and Notes Cellco 5/1/2017 
 D-2 Site Grounding Profile Cellco 1/27/2017 
 D-3 Site Details Cellco 2/9/2017 
 D-4 Grounding Details Cellco 2/9/2017 
 D-5 Grounding Details and Notes Cellco 1/27/2017 
 D-6 Fencing Details Cellco 5/1/2017 
 E-1 Utility Site Plan and Notes Cellco 5/1/2017 
 E-1.1 Utility Site Plan and Notes Cellco 5/1/2017 
 E1.2 Generator Utility Routing Plan Cellco 5/1/2017 
 E-2 Utility Routing Profile and Notes Cellco 3/16/2017 
 E-3 Concrete Skid Utility Details Cellco 1/27/2017 
 E-4 H-Frame and Trench Details Cellco 1/27/2017 
 SP-1 Specifications Cellco 1/27/2017 
 SP-2 Specifications Cellco 1/27/2017 
 P-1 Site Photos Cellco 1/27/2017 
 NTC-1 Notice To Contractors  Cellco 2/9/2017 
 NTC-2 Notice To Contractors Cellco 2/9/2017 
 LS-1 Lessee Cellco 5/1/2017 
 LS-1-1 Lessee Cellco 5/1/2017 
 LS-1.2 Lessee Cellco 5/1/2017 
 1.0 Manufactured Skid Data Sheet Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-1 Floor Plan Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-2 Roof View Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-3 Elevation A   Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-4 Elevation C Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-5 Elevation B & D Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-6 Elevation E Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-7 Elevation F Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-8 OVP & RRH Cable Roof View Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 1-9 OVP & RRH Cable Elevations Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 2-1 Electrical Schematic #1  Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 2-2 Electrical Schematic #2 – ATS Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 2-2.1 Electrical Schematic #2 – ATS/MTS Fibrebond 4/7/2016 



Parallel Verizon Cell Tower – 6775 Prosperi Drive 
 

Page 14 of 14 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

 2-2.2 Electrical Schematic #2 – Camlock  Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 2-3 Electrical Schematic #3 Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 3-1 Alarm Wiring #3 Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 3-2 Alarm Wiring #2 Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 4 Item List Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 5-1 Grounding Roof View Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 5-2 Grounding Roof View Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 5-3 Grounding Elevation “A” Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 5-4 Grounding Elevation “C” Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 5-5 Grounding Elevation “B&D” Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 5-6 Grounding Elevation “E” Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 5-7 Grounding Elevation “F” Fibrebond 4-7-2016 
 5-8 Misc Details Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 6 Misc Details Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 7-1 Foundation Plan  Round Pier Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 7-2 Foundation Plan Slab Configuration Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 7-3 Foundation Plan Gravel or Compacted Soil Fibrebond 4/7/2016 
 7-4 Foundation Plan Square Pier Fibrebond 4/6/2016 
 8-1 Roof, Stair & H-Frame Options  Fibrebond 4/6/2016 
 8-2 Handrail Options Fibrebond 4/6/2016 
  LED Wall Pack Lighting Features & Specifications Lithonia No date on sheet 
  LED Wall Pack Photometric Diagrams Lithonia No date on sheet 

 
 
 



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

APPLICATION FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL

PROJECT NAME: LOCATION:

The undersigned hereby requests that the Plan Commission and/or the Village Board of the Village of Tinley 
Park, Illinois consider authorizing Site Plan Approval for the project described within. 

APPLICANT INFORMATION
Name:
Company:
Mailing Address:
Phone (Office):
Phone (Cell):
Fax:
Email:

If the Applicant is not the property owner, describe the nature of the Applicant’s interest in the property and/or 
the relationship to the property owner:

PROPERTY INFORMATION
Property Address:
PIN(s):
Existing Land Use:
Zoning District:
Lot Dimensions:
Property Owner(s):
Mailing Address:

APPLICATION INFORMATION
Description of proposed project (use additional attachments as necessary):

Is the Applicant aware of any variations required from the terms of the Zoning Ordinance? If yes, please 
explain and note that a separate Variation Application is required with the submittal.

No Yes:

The Applicant certifies that all of the above statements and other information submitted as part of this 
application are true and correct to the best of his or her knowledge. 

Signature of Applicant Date

Page 1 of 3 

Parallel Tinley Park Amphitheater 6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL 60477

Kathleen Groark

Insite Inc as agent for PI Tower Development LLC and Verizon Wireless

1s660 Midwest Road, Suite 140, Tinley Park, IL 60477

PI Tower Development LLC is in lease negotiations with the owner.

6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL, 60477

31-06-400-002-0000

ORI education and light manufacturing

ORI

402.77' x 258.80' x 254.28' x 343.05', 2.341 acre (lease area 22' x 60', 1,320 sq. ft.)

Community Services Foundation

6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL 60477

Parallel proposes a lease space of 22' x 60' lease area for a 95' monopole wireless facility with a 5' lightning rod. The proposed monopole will be capable
of collocation for 2 additional carriers.

✔



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

SITE PLAN APPROVAL
CONTACT INFORMATION

PROJECT NAME: LOCATION:

In order to expedite your site plan submission through the planning process, the Village of Tinley Park requires the 
following contact information. Please provide the information requested and return to the Planning Department. Your 
prompt attention is greatly appreciated.

CURRENT PROPERTY OWNER OF RECORD PROJECT ARCHITECT
Name: Name:
Company: Company:
Address: Address:
Phone: Phone:
Fax: Fax:
Email: Email:

PROJECT ENGINEER PROJECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
Name: Name:
Company: Company:
Address: Address:
Phone: Phone:
Fax: Fax:
Email: Email:

ATTORNEY END USER
Name: Name:
Company: Company:
Address: Address:
Phone: Phone:
Fax: Fax:
Email: Email:

Page 2 of 3 

Parallel Tinley Park Amphitheater 6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL 60477

Community Services Foundation

6775 Prosperi Drvie, Tinley Park, IL 60477

Ralph Hodges

Consolidated Land Surveyors

1300 W Commerce Dr. Ste 700, Peoria, IL 61615

Ralph Hodges

Consolidated Land Surveyors

Ralph Hodges

Consolidated Land Surveyors

1300 W Commerce Dr. Ste 700, Peoria, IL 61615

PI Tower Development, LLC

7411 Fullerton Street, Suite 110



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

SITE PLAN APPROVAL
RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

PROJECT NAME: LOCATION:

Please provide name, address and telephone number of the person/firm that will be responsible for payment of plan 
review, engineering, landscaping, attorney and building permit fees in the space provided below. If only one party will be 
responsible for all fees, please list that party’s contact information under “General Billing.”

GENERAL BILLING RESPONSIBLE FOR PLAN REVIEW FEES
Name: Name:
Company: Company:
Address: Address:
Phone: Phone:
Fax: Fax:
Email: Email:

RESPONSIBLE FOR BUILDING PERMIT FEES RESPONSIBLE FOR ATTORNEY FEES
Name: Name:
Company: Company:
Address: Address:
Phone: Phone:
Fax: Fax:
Email: Email:

RESPONSIBLE FOR ENGINEERING/ 
CONSTRUCTION OVERSIGHT FEES

RESPONSIBLE FOR LANDSCAPE REVIEW 
FEES

Name: Name:
Company: Company:
Address: Address:
Phone: Phone:
Fax: Fax:
Email: Email:

Page 3 of 3 

Parallel Tinley Park Amphitheater 6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL 60477

 Jennifer Brown

PI Tower Development LLC

7411 Fullerton Street, Suite 110, Jacksonville, FL 32256



Kathleen Groark, Insite Inc, as agent for Parallel Infrastructure and Verizon Wireless

1s660 Midwest Road, Suite 140,

Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181

PI Tower Development LLC is in lease negotiations with the owner.

Community Services Foundation

6775 Prosperi Drive

Tinley Park, IL 60477

6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL 60477

31-06-400-002-0000

ORI education and light manufacturing

402.77'x 258.80' x254.28' x 343.05', 2.341 acres (lease area 22' x 60', 1,320 Sq Ft)

ORI

M-1

✔
Wireless Communications Facility

✔



FINDINGS OF FACT
SPECIAL USE PERMIT – (Including Planned Developments)

PURSUANT TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE

Section X.J. of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance requires that no Special Use be recommended by 
the Plan Commission unless the Commission finds that all of the following statements, A-G listed below, are 
true and supported by facts. Petitioners must respond to and confirm each and every one of the following 
findings by providing the facts supporting such findings. The statements made on this sheet will be made part of 
the official public record and will discussed in detail during the Plan Commission meetings and will be provided 
to any interested party requesting a copy. 

Please provide factual evidence that the proposed Special Use meets the statements below and use as much 
space as needed to provide evidence. 

A. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare.

B. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood.

C. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.

D. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided.

E. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.

Page 1 

The Proposed Facility will not have a substantial or undue adverse effect upon the
adjacent property, the character of the area or be detrimental to the public health,
safety, and general welfare. On the contrary, wireless communications technology
provides vital communications in “911” and other emergency situations and is used to

Telecommunications facilities of the sort proposed by the Applicant have become
commonplace in all manner of urban, suburban, exurban and rural locales, and
already exist in a variety of sizes, types, and locations in Cook County. Verizon has
been sensitive in selecting a site that will minimize the impact on the surrounding
property. The site will be compatible with the existing neighboring property uses and

The proposed facility is consistent with the objectives of the city’s comprehensive plan
and this chapter. The proposed facility will, in fact, improve the quality of life for the
residents and visitors and persons doing business in Tinley Park for reasons stated
within this application.

No drainage, sanitation, refuse removal, parks, library or school services will be
necessary for this facility. This site is entirely self-monitored and connects directly to a
central office where sophisticated computers alert personnel to any equipment
malfunction or breach of security. Existing police and fire protection are more than

The site will be unstaffed and upon completion of construction, maintenance
personnel will visit the site approximately once or twice a month. Accordingly, there
will be no impact to the existing traffic patterns nor will there be any traffic hazards or
nuisances generated



F. That the Special Use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village 
Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.

G. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 
development of the community as a whole.  

Page 2 

Verizon’s proposed facility complies with all additional regulations in this chapter
specific to wireless communications facilities.

Quality wireless technology, including voice and data networks, is integral to virtually
every local business, citizen, resident, and visitor to Tinley Park. As mentioned
previously, wireless communications technology provides vital communications in
“911” and other emergency situations. Furthermore, this facility will provide these
services to the Rich Township Entertainment/Tourism Overlay District, whose
businesses depend on reliable wireless communications technology. These services
have become established and accepted as an integral part of the nation’s
communications infrastructure and promote the public health, safety, morals, comfort
and general welfare.



SPECIAL USE STANDARDS 

 

A. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental 
to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 
The Proposed Facility will not have a substantial or undue adverse effect upon the adjacent 
property, the character of the area or be detrimental to the public health, safety, and general 
welfare. On the contrary, wireless communications technology provides vital communications in 
“911” and other emergency situations and is used to promote efficient and effective personal, 
business and governmental communications. These services have become established and 
accepted as an integral part of the nation’s communications infrastructure and promote the public 
health, safety, morals, comfort and general welfare. The site will meet all applicable health and 
safety standards. 
 

B.  That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood. 
Telecommunications facilities of the sort proposed by the Applicant have become commonplace 
in all manner of urban, suburban, exurban and rural locales, and already exist in a variety of sizes, 
types, and locations in Cook County. Verizon has been sensitive in selecting a site that will 
minimize the impact on the surrounding property. The site will be compatible with the existing 
neighboring property uses and will not disrupt any future development of the area. 

 

C.  That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
The proposed facility is consistent with the objectives of the city’s comprehensive plan and this 
chapter. The proposed facility will, in fact, improve the quality of life for the residents and 
visitors and persons doing business in Tinley Park for reasons stated within this application. 

D. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have 
been or are being provided. 
No drainage, sanitation, refuse removal, parks, library or school services will be necessary for this 
facility. This site is entirely self-monitored and connects directly to a central office where 
sophisticated computers alert personnel to any equipment malfunction or breach of security. 
Existing police and fire protection are more than adequate to provide security for this facility. As 
mentioned previously, wireless communications technology provides vital communications in 
“911” and other emergency situations and is used to promote efficient and effective personal, 
business and governmental communications. These services have become established and 
accepted as an integral part of the nation’s communications infrastructure and promote the public 
health, safety, morals, comfort and general welfare. 

 
E. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 
designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
The site will be unstaffed and upon completion of construction, maintenance personnel will visit 
the site approximately once or twice a month. Accordingly, there will be no impact to the existing 
traffic patterns nor will there be any traffic hazards or nuisances generated. 

  



 
F. That the Special Use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of 
the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be 
modified by the Village Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission. 
Verizon’s proposed facility complies with all additional regulations in this chapter specific to 
wireless communications facilities. 

 
G. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the 
economic development of the community as a whole. 
Quality wireless technology, including voice and data networks, is integral to virtually every local 
business, citizen, resident, and visitor to Tinley Park. As mentioned previously, wireless 
communications technology provides vital communications in “911” and other emergency 
situations. Furthermore, this facility will provide these services to the Rich Township 
Entertainment/Tourism Overlay District, whose businesses depend on reliable wireless 
communications technology. These services have become established and accepted as an integral 
part of the nation’s communications infrastructure and promote the public health, safety, morals, 
comfort and general welfare. 



 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

PI TOWER DEVELOPMENT, LLC. 
WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY 

 
APPLICATION FOR A SPECIAL USE PERMIT AND MAP 

AMENDMENT  
 

6775 PROSPERI DRIVE, TINLEY PARK, IL 60477 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
 
Petitioner 
   

Verizon Wireless is a leading national wireless phone carrier and offers one of the 
finest wireless communications networks in the nation. PI Tower Development, LLC is a 
tower company that provides wireless towers to wireless phone carriers for collocation. 
Parallel Infrastructure, on behalf of Verizon Wireless, has negotiated a lease to install a 
wireless antenna facility at 6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL 60477.  
 
Collocation 
 

Collocation is the placement of wireless antennas on existing towers or structures. 
Utilizing such structures offers your community improved wireless service while 
minimizing the proliferation of towers. Construction of the proposed new monopole 
tower would allow another company to collocate, minimizing the proliferation of towers 
in the area. 
 
 The wireless industry is enjoying explosive growth, both domestically and 
internationally. Industry sources anticipate the number of antenna sites in the United 
States will continue to grow. Without collocation, the number of towers could increase 
600 percent or more.  
 
 Cellular and other wireless phones have become a widely used and accepted form 
of business, personal and other communications. In addition to traditional voice service, 
people are using them for access the Internet, text messaging, email and other data 
transfer. In addition to the many well-know business and personal uses of wireless 
communications, wireless phone networks have become a critical part of the nation’s 
emergency communications infrastructure. Recent studies indicate that over 65 million 
“911” and distress calls were placed on wireless phones in the United States annually. 
Wireless networks not only provide a means for everyday business and personal 
communications, but have also become an essential part of the nation’s emergency 
communications infrastructure.  
 
Property Description 
  

Parallel Infrastructure, on behalf of Verizon Wireless, proposes to install a 95’ -0” 
monopole tower with new antennas at the height of 70’-0”. The new monopole will have 
the capacity to accommodate (2) additional carriers. Verizon Wireless will place its 
antennas at a height of 70’. The lease area will be enclosed by a 6’ vinyl fence. Verizon’s 
related equipment will be located within an approximate (22’ x 30’) lease area adjacent to 
the monopole.  Access to the facility will be via the existing access road off Prosperi 
Drive. The proposed facility lies within the ORI District and a map amendment is 
requested to change to the M-1 General Manufacturing District. 



 
 
Nature of Request/Zoning Analysis 
  

Article V.1.a, Regulations for Personal Wireless Service Facilities, of the 
Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, states in relevant part that a Special Use 
Permit is required and may be requested pursuant to the Special Use process set 
forth in Section X.J for any use that satisfies the definition of personal wireless 
service facility. 

 
Article K, Map Amendment, of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, 

states in relevant part that An application to amend the official Tinley Park Zoning 
District Map, particular to one or more parcels of land, may be made by any person, 
firm, or corporation having a free hold interest, an option to purchase, or any 
exclusive possessory interest which is specifically enforceable on the land which is 
described in the application to amend the Zoning District Map.  

 
 Pursuant to the above referenced sections of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance, Parallel Infrastructure, on behalf of Verizon Wireless, seeks a Special Use 
Permit, Map Amendment, and any other permits necessary to allow the installation of its 
proposed wireless communications facility located at 6775 Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, 
IL 60477. 
  

Parallel Infrastructure, on behalf of Verizon Wireless’, proposed wireless 
communications facility complies with all of the standards and requirements for wireless 
communications facilities as set forth in the Village of Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinances.     

 
Components and Operations 
 

The proposed facility will be unstaffed and, upon completion, will require only 
infrequent maintenance visits (approximately once a month) by a service technician. 
Access to the proposed facility will be via the access road off Prosperi Drive. Hence, the 
facility will not have any material impact on traffic or parking.  
 

The proposed facility is entirely self-monitored by sophisticated computers which 
connect directly to a central office and which alert personnel to equipment malfunction or 
breach of security. Moreover, no material noise, glare, smoke, debris, traffic flow or any 
other nuisance will be generated by the proposed facility. 
 
 The proposed facility will be designed and constructed to meet applicable 
governmental and industry safety standards. Specifically, Parallel Infrastructure, on 
behalf of Verizon, will comply with FCC and FAA rules governing construction 
requirements, technical standards, interference protection, power and height limitations 
and radio frequency standards.  
 



The applicant’s proposed Wireless Telecommunications Facilities shall be maintained in 
a safe manner, and in compliance with all conditions of the Special Use Permit, without 
exception, unless specifically granted relief by the City in writing, as well as all 
applicable and permissible local codes, ordinances, and regulations, including any and all 
applicable city, state and federal laws, rules, and regulations.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Requested Action  
 
 PI Tower Development, LLC, on behalf of Verizon Wireless, respectfully 
requests a Special Use Permit, Map Amendment and any other relief necessary to 
accommodate the installation of its proposed wireless communications facility on 6775 
Prosperi Drive, Tinley Park, IL 60477. 
 
 PI Tower Development, LLC, on behalf of Verizon Wireless, expressly reserves 
all of its rights, including those available to it under the Village of Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance or any other state, local or federal law. 

















































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 

 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Andrea T. Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and DJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture, seeks Site Plan Approval and a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the approved Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development 
(PUD). The Applicant proposes to construct two (2) multi-family structures with 
seventy-two (72) two and three bedroom rental units in each building for a total of 
144 units.   
 
The approved PUD (2000) provided for nine (9) 16-unit structures for a total of 144 
units. The density and unit count remain the same as originally approved; however, 
reducing the number of structures allows for additional green space and amenities 
such as  a club house, pool, cabanas, dog park, outdoor recreation and fitness areas, 
walking path, grilling areas, arboretum, Frisbee golf,  and fire pits. Each unit is 
provided with an indoor parking space.  
 
The property is zoned R-5 PD (Low Density Residential, Planned Unit Development) 
and is located in the Urban Design Overlay District.  As a PUD, deviations from the 
Zoning Ordinance are considered exceptions rather than variations; therefore, these 
exceptions are reviewed in context of the original intent of the PUD rather than strict 
adherence to the Village’s Zoning Ordinance. The following table outlines the 
exceptions according to the proposed plans: 
 

Exception Requirement Proposed 
Building Setback 20’ maximum 14’ – 36’ 
Parking Setback 25’ minimum TBD 
Building Height 56’ maximum 62’ 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Applicant 
Andrea Crowley, on 
behalf of Karli Mayher 
and DJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture  
 
Property Location 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 
191st Street 
 
Parcel Size 
7.65 ac 
 
Zoning 
R-5  PD 
Brookside Glen PUD 
 
PINs 
19-09-11-200-015-0000 
19-09-11-200-013-0000 
 
Approvals Sought 
Site Plan Approval, Special 
Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from 
a PUD (which includes 
exceptions from Zoning 
Ordinance) 
 
 
Project Planners 
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Interim Community 
Development Director 
 
Stephanie Kisler, AICP  
Planner I 
 

PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
May 18, 2017   
 
THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 2 of 14 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

 

 
Excerpt from the Original Brookside Glen PUD 

 
The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD) was approved as part of an annexation of 828 acres in 1990.  
Since that time there have been amendments to the Agreement as well as several PUD modifications and rezonings.  
This is not atypical for a property of this size that has had to respond to market trends and fluctuating economic 
conditions over time.  The subject property was originally planned for a mixture of commercial, office, restricted 
industrial, and residential uses (condo/ apartments).   
 
 In 2000, a Substantial Deviation from the PUD was 
approved for nine (9) 4-story, 16 unit condo buildings 
similar to the housing types that currently exist on 
Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway Boulevard.  This project 
was never built and Staff has been unable to locate plans for 
the project. Since that time, there have been a few other 
proposals including a condominium development scheme 
with nine 8-unit buildings and one 16-unit building 
(submitted in 2007; see image below). In 2014, a proposal 
was submitted for 123 units in 17 buildings comprised of 
between 4 to 15 attached single-family rowhouse dwelling 
units per building (see image on next page). Neither project  
was approved.   
 

 
Proposed Plans from 2007 (by others) 

Existing Condominiums 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 3 of 14 
 

 
Proposed Plans from 2014 (by others) 

 
 
In July of 2016, the Village was approached by the Applicant, Karli Mayher, to develop the same 7.65 acre parcel. 
However, her proposal was for two (2) buildings instead of nine (9), yet maintained the same density (18.8 du/ac) 
and unit count (144 dwelling units).  As part of the Applicant’s study of the residential market they discovered that 
financing for condo developments is becoming increasingly more difficult due to the subprime mortgage crisis and 
the trend was moving away from home ownership (condos).  Tinley Park is becoming more attractive to the young 
professional wanting luxury housing without the maintenance responsibilities. These renters are looking to live 
close to public transportation and shopping opportunities.  The Applicant is seeking to capitalize on this housing 
trend and develop upscale rental units that provide modern amenities not commonly found in rental housing. 
 
Rental developments have historically struggled with maintaining value over time. There are many examples in the 
south suburbs that experience a decline in building condition as maintenance costs increase.  One way to insulate 
against such decline is to ensure there is an inherent cost or value to the development that necessitates a certain 
Rate of Return (ROI) over time.  The subject parcel has proposed significant amenities beyond what is expected or 
required of multi-family developments. Such things as a clubhouse, pool, exercise areas and fitness center, dog park, 
walking paths, outdoor grilling area, roof decks, and cabanas not only contribute to the overall character of the 
development but contribute to a higher operating cost that in turn commands a certain lease rate to guarantee an 
expected rate of return. The Applicant has also referenced market research that indicates that the amenities of a 
development that distinguish one development from another, thus, increasing its leasing market.  
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 4 of 14 
 

ZONING, ADJACENT LAND USE, & COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
 
The property is zoned R-5 PD (Low Density Residential) and is part of the Brookside Glen Planned Unit 
Development (PUD).  It is bordered by the ComEd transmission lines to the west, B-3 PD (General Business and 
Commercial District) to the east, R-5 PD to the south and southeast and R-2 PD (Single-Family Residential) to the 
far south.   The site is located within the Urban Design Overlay District (UD-1) that is intended to “accommodate the 
automobile, but are primarily designed to promote non-motorized and public transportation movements to, within, 
and among properties”. UD-1 attempts to create a streetscape that is defined by buildings rather than parking lots.   
 

 
Graphic Showing Zoning in the Vicinity of the Site 

 
Surrounding land uses include vacant 
property to the east that is planned and 
zoned for commercial uses.  A municipal 
pump station is located immediately to the 
south and a townhome development exists to 
the southeast with 2-story structures 
housing 4-6 units.  East of 80th Avenue, multi-
family uses continue with similar 
townhomes and 4-story condominium 
buildings of 16 units each. These structures 
are designed similarly to the proposed 
project in that they are effectively 5-story 
buildings due to the ground floor parking 
garage. A detention pond is located to the 
north and functions as a buffer to 191st 
Street. The Wolverine Pipeline traverses the 
site (east to west), just north of the proposed 
dog park. 
 
The underlying zoning district of R-5 provides for certain bulk regulations, as does the UD-1.  As a Planned Unit 
Development, deviations from these requirements are considered ‘exceptions’ and are not reviewed as a ‘true’ 
variation from the Zoning Ordinance; instead, they are reviewed in context of the approved PUD.  The Commission 
may wish to evaluate these deviations using the PUD Standards and Criteria for a PUD (Sections VII.C.1. and 
VII.C.3). As a Special Use, Staff will provide Findings of Fact at the Public Hearing consistent with the Special Use 
standards in Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance.  Any exceptions that Staff has noted during the review are 
identified throughout this report. 
 
The Village’s Comprehensive Plan indicates the subject area as residential.  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 5 of 14 
 

SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
The proposed Site Plan shows two (2) multi-family residential structures (each with seventy-two (72) dwelling 
units) and a club house in between the residential structures. The buildings follow the curve of Magnuson Lane. 
The Applicant has worked cooperatively with Staff to create an optimal Site Plan, resulting in several revisions to 
the original submittal. There will be a few additional revisions presented at the workshop meeting on May 18th. 
 

 
Excerpt of the Applicant’s Color Site Plan 

 

 
Staff ’s Graphic Showing the Site Plan Over an Aerial Image 

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 6 of 14 
 

Setbacks 
The buildings are located closer to the street in order to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District, which 
establishes a maximum front yard setback of twenty feet (20’). Staff notes that Building 1 has a front yard setback 
that ranges from 14’ to 24’ and Building 2 has front yard setbacks ranging from 22’ to 36’. It is important to 
consider the scale of the building when thinking about the most suitable setbacks. Due to the height and scale of the 
buildings, increased setbacks provide opportunity for additional landscaping and berming against the foundation 
wall. Additionally, the curvature of the street and the resulting sight lines along with the curvature of the building 
façade serve to minimize the scale of the building. This all contributes to the mitigation of the scale of the building 
and provide for a more pedestrian scale to the streetscape. As a point of reference, there are condominiums of 
similar scale with respect to height located along Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway Boulevard which have 
setbacks ranging from 24-30’.  

 
Exception #1: Front yard setback. The Urban Design Overlay District requires a twenty foot (20’) 
maximum setback for the front yard. The proposed structures do not meet this requirement in all 
instances. 

 
Additionally, in an attempt to meet the intent of the Urban Design Overlay District’s regulations, the Applicant has 
located the majority of the surface parking behind the buildings. The regulations call for parking to be set back a 
minimum of twenty-five feet (25’) in front yards. Staff has recommended that all parking areas meet this 
requirement. A revised Site Plan will be presented at the workshop meeting. Parking is discussed further in the 
Parking section of the Staff Report. 
 

Exception #2: Parking setback. The Urban Design Overlay District requires a twenty-five foot (25’) 
minimum setback for parking. The Applicant is encouraged to design all parking areas to meet this 
requirement. 

 
Landscape 
The Applicant has provided a Landscape Plan that meets the spirit of the Landscape Ordinance, according to the 
Village’s Landscape Architect. Staff recommends some minor revisions to the Landscape Plan, which will be 
resubmitted for final review prior to the Public Hearing. The minor revisions include re-arranging the plantings to 
be grouped rather than planted in a linear pattern and correcting specifications for plant material sizes. Staff will 
continue to work with the Applicant to achieve a satisfactory Landscape Plan. 
 

 
Excerpt from the Proposed Landscape Plan 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 7 of 14 
 

Parking & Access 
Some of Staff ’s suggested revisions to the Site Plan include land banking some parking spaces and reconfiguring 
the access drive at the south end of the property. The Site Plan currently contains 360 parking spaces (144 of which 
are in the ground floor garages in the residential buildings), which meets the Village’s parking regulations in 
Section VIII.A.10. (2.5 parking spaces/DU). 
 
The Applicant does not anticipate the need for 2.5 parking spaces per unit, especially since there are one-bedroom 
units. In addition, the development will be marketed to young professionals that are seeking access to public 
transportation and therefore often require only one (1) vehicle per household. The Applicant has agreed to land 
bank parking spaces and construct them if needed in the future. This requires the providing space for parking but 
not improving it until a need is established. As a result this will create additional green space for the development 
until such time as the parking is needed (or not needed). The parking areas that will be land banked will be spaces 
located nearest Magnuson Lane, thereby parking will primarily be located behind the structures to meet the intent 
of the Urban Design Overlay District This would not necessarily constitute an exception since the total number of 
required parking spaces will be provided. This is an acceptable practice within the context of a PUD. Staff 
recommends notation of the land banking as part of the Special Use conditions.  
 
Staff also suggested that the Applicant reconfigure the south curb cuts on Magnuson Lane and consolidate them 
into one single access point. This will preserve access to the municipal pump station and create a safer entry into 
the residential site. Additionally, Staff requested that the parking garages have access out each end of the 
residential buildings to improve the maneuverability within the garages. This change will create new garage entry 
points on the south side of Building 1 and the north side of Building 2. The Applicant will revise the plans 
accordingly. 
 
The plans show the addition of public sidewalk along the west side of Magnuson Lane. Staff recommends the 
sidewalk also be added along the south side of Magnuson Lane/Greenway Boulevard to link John Michael Drive to 
Brushwood Lane via public sidewalk. The Applicant has provided sidewalks and carriage walks within the site itself 
to serve the residents and guests. Staff has encouraged the Applicant to add crosswalks to further improve the 
pedestrian safety within the site. 
 
The Applicant has provided a bike connection to the Frankfort Square Park District’s bike trail system that is just 
south of the municipal pump station. The bike trail meanders through residential areas and eventually leads south 
to the Old Plank Road Trail. 
 
 
Lighting 
The Photometric Plan indicates adequate lighting in the parking areas, which is provided by decorative light 
fixtures. Staff recommends the Applicant add decorative wall sconces near the entry doors and garage doors to add 
to the aesthetics and the residential character of the buildings. 
 
 
Trash Enclosures 
The Applicant has provided an interior trash room for the tenant’s to dispose of their waste. A management 
company will handle the trash collection from the trash room to the outdoor trash enclosures. The exterior trash 
enclosures will be constructed with materials matching the façade of the buildings. 
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 8 of 14 
 

Amenities 
In order to create and preserve value for the residential dwelling units, the Applicant proposes many amenities on-
site, including but not limited to: 

• Indoor ground-level parking garages with at least one space per dwelling unit;  
• A club house including an outdoor pool with cabanas, a fitness center, locker rooms, free WiFi, a lounge, a 

meeting room, a computer room, and a great room with a kitchenette. 
• Outdoor grilling areas for each building, including grill stations, fire pits, outdoor seating, pergolas, and a 

service sink; 
• Disc golf baskets; 
• Bike storage (interior and exterior); 
• Electric car charging stations; 
• Exterior exercise circuit equipment; 
• A dog park (for private use by the residents) including a large and small dog area, complete with seating 

area, a drinking fountain, and training fixtures such as a jump bar and weave poles; 
• An arboretum area at the north end of the site featuring outdoor seating; 
• A bike trail connection to a major bike trail system; 
• Over 4 acres of open space; and 
• Outdoor terraces available to the residents in addition to their own private balconies.  

 

 
Rendering of the Outdoor Terrace and Grilling Stations 

 
 

 
Close View of Grilling Stations 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 9 of 14 
 

ARCHITECTURE 
 

 
 

The two (2) residential structures bookend the site with mirror images of each other.  The structures are 4-stories 
of residential uses over a ground-level parking garage. The building height ranges from 57’ to 71’ with the highest 
range reflecting the elevation of the highest peak measured from floor grade to maximum peak while the lowest 
height reflects the ground elevation to the lowest roof elevation.  The site has been graded to minimize the exposed 
ground level elevations. (see the Building Height section for further discussion). 

 
The street façade had a central architectural feature to identify 
the street access; it also has increased roof height and projects 
5’ from the front façade.  A wood trellis frames the doorway on 
both the front and rear facades with tapered stone columns. 
The top floor unit is set back to create a roof deck and includes 
the floor to ceiling windows. The west entrances will function 
as the main entrance to the facility; however, the east façade is 
also designed with a similar entry feature as required by the 
UD-1.  
 
There are 72 units per structure with the following breakdown 
of unit type: 
 

Unit Type Area (SF) # of Units 
2 bedroom/2 bath 1,286-1,356 44 
2 bedroom/2 bath/study 1,616 4 
1 bedroom/1.5 bath 1,073 4 
1 bedroom/1 bath 924-987 20 

 
The smallest unit is 924 SF (1 bedroom) with the largest 2 bedroom/2 bath/study unit measuring 1,616 SF.  All 
units exceed the Village’s minimum size requirements for usable floor area. In addition to the generous unit size, all 
units have at least one (1) balcony with some units having two (2) balconies, private terraces, or large private roof 
decks. The outside end units of each building have terraces measuring 23’ x 31’, plus a balcony. 
 
The architecture provides for varying roof heights, which help to break up the expanse of the roof line but also 
allow for several units to have increased ceiling heights in excess of 13 feet. These same units also are enhanced 
with floor to ceiling windows and private roof decks. Each structure reflects the curvature of the roadway.  
Articulation is provided throughout each façade with inset and projecting balconies.  
 
The ground floor parking garage provides one (1) interior parking space per unit.  Vehicular access will be 
provided at each end of the structure. A separate garage is provided at the rear outer edge of each building that 
provides 10 parking spaces and an expansive roof deck on top (47’ x 93’) and includes seating areas and grilling 
stations.  
 
 
 
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 10 of 14 
 

Building Height   
The height of the main ridge line of the proposed multi-family structures are 64’+ with the peak of the roof of the 
central entrance features measuring 71’+.  However, building height is measured as “the mean height level between 
eaves and ridge of gable, hip, and gambrel roofs”; therefore, the height of the tallest roof (at the entrance) is 
considered 65’.  For comparison, the height of the condominium units on Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway 
Boulevard are 62’ in height.  While the maximum height allowed in the R-5 District is 35’, as part of a PUD and the 
Substantial Deviation request the Commission may consider this as an exception to the Zoning Ordinance.  Support 
for this exception is found through the analysis of the various approving documents for this PUD and is presented 
as follows: 
 
The Annexation Agreement of the original PUD (1989) provided for 122.8 acres of townhomes zoned R-5 and 21.5 
acres of condominiums zoned R-6  (see graphic of the proposed allotment of zoning districts under ‘Background’ 
above).  The maximum height in each of these districts is 35’ and 40’ respectfully.  There were several amendments 
to the original Agreement over the following years that continued to alter the original zoning and master planning 
for the area, including an amendment and approval of a Substantial Deviation of the PUD in 2000 which increased 
the allowable density, unit count, and height of the condominium units.   The ordinance reads:  

“The original Planned Unit Development called for 429.9 acres of single-family residential lots with a total of 
1,127 lots, while the revised Planned Unit Development proposed herein would provide for 460 acres of single-
family residential lots with a total of 1,192 lots. The original Planned Unit Development also provided for 
123.3 acres of townhome development with a total number of 740 dwelling units, while the revised Planned 
Unit Development reduces the townhome development to a total of 94.6 acres and a total of 527 dwelling 
units. Finally, the original Planned Unit Development provided for 21.5 acres of condominium development 
with a total of 258 dwelling units, while the revised Planned Unit Development will have 27 acres of 
condominium development with 352 dwelling units. Thus, there is an overall reduction in density of 54 
dwelling units. The proposed substantial deviation also provides for an increase in the building height for 
the proposed condominium units from three to four stories, and each condominium building will have 
underground parking (at least one parking stall per condominium unit) and elevators. There will be 16 
condominium buildings with 22 units in each building.” 

 
The same document also states:  

“to allow an increase in the building height in the condominium portion of the Planned Unit Development (in 
the R-5 Low Density Residential District of the Planned Unit Development) to allow for four story buildings not 
to exceed 56 feet in height.” 

 
It is unclear as to how the existing condominiums (on Brookside Glen 
Drive and Greenway Boulevard) were approved at 62’. However, 
despite the height restrictions of the underlying zoning district (35’ for 
R-5), the proposed height of 65 can be supported by the amended 
ordinance which provides for four stories with underground parking 
and the precedence of the existing condos at a height of 62'.  The 
Commission may wish to consider this as an exception from the 
maximum allowable building height per Section V.C.II. of the Zoning 
Ordinance and approve it as part of the Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the PUD.  
 
Both the proposed structure and the existing condos on Greenway 
Boulevard have exposed foundations for the interior parking areas. The 
proposed buildings have elected to berm the foundation walls at 
varying heights to mitigate the exposed foundation walls.  In addition, extensive foundation landscaping has been 
provided to soften the look.  The Applicant has also agreed to provide climbing landscaping treatments where 
possible.  Providing the undulating landscape along with the partial burial of the ground floor parking areas also 
allows for increased security and privacy for the first floor units.  

 
Exception #3: Building height. Allow for a building height ranging between 57’-71’ with the mean 
height of the highest roof measuring 65’. 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 11 of 14 
 

HVAC  
The HVAC units are installed as wall units; the metal louvers are painted to match the brick color. There will be no 
roof or ground units.  
 
 
Building Materials  
The proposed multi-family structures are constructed 
predominately of masonry materials. The façade of the 
residential units is constructed of a thin brick embedded in 
precast panels that will be installed as horizontal panels 
thereby eliminating section lines or noticeable vertical 
breaks.  Color samples will be available at the meeting but 
the renderings closely reflect the actual color. The accent 
brick is beige with matching precast accent strips serving as 
lintels above the windows. The accent brick highlights the 
main entrances and is repeated along the façade highlighting 
some of the balcony areas. The ground floor includes a 
stamped precast stained panel that matches the accent areas 
of the club house. 
 
 
Clubhouse  
The Clubhouse is centrally located with easy access on the north and south sides for each building.  The architect 
has been requested to modify the east façade to reflect more of a street presence with front façade features. This 
will be presented at the meeting. The building materials are consistent with the residential structures and 
measures 19’ in height.   
 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Following a successful workshop, proceed to a Public Hearing at the June 1, 2017 Plan Commission meeting. 
 
 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 12 of 14 
 

STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must 
be met. Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 
drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

 
c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 

safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as 
well. 

 
d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

 
e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 

public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 
uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 
buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 
shrubs. 

 
f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

 

 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 13 of 14 
 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
will provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values 
within the neighborhood; 
 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided; 
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 
other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  
Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 
the community as a whole. 

 
It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 
Permit is tied to the Applicant. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever 
apply to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to 
examine the conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 

Page 14 of 14 
 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

  Plat of Survey AS 06/13/2016 

 A-0.0 Cover Sheet AS 06/13/2016 

Color Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

 A-1.0 Schematic Site Plan B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.1         Signage Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.2         Refuse Enclosure Plan & Elevation AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.3         Photometric Site Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-1.4         Exterior Light Fixture Cut Sheets AS 01/25/2017 

 A-2.0 Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

   A-2.1         Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-2.2 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

 A-2.3 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

 A-3.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.1 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 1 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

 A-3.3 Partial First Floor Plan Bldg 1  B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

   A-3.4         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-3.5         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.0 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.1 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-4.2 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-4.3 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-5.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.1 Partial Lower Level  Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 2 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

 A-5.3 Partial First Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

   A-5.4         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-5.5         Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

   A-6.0          Common Area Details AS 01/25/2017 

 A-6.1 Club House Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

 A-7.0 Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

   A-7.1         Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

   A-7.2         Club House Rendering AS 01/25/2017 

 A-8.0 Club House Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

 A-8.9 Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

 L-1 Landscape Plan EEA 04/27/2017 

 L-1 Color Landscape Plan EEA 04/27/2017 

Partial Color Rendering   

 
AS  Architectural Studio, Ltd. 
EEA  Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd. 

 

















Project Narrative- The Residences of Brookside Ridge 

 

 The Residences of Brookside Ridge are a proposed 144 unit multifamily development 
located on the south side of 191st  street just west of the intersection of 80th Avenue and 191st 
Street in Tinley Park.  The proposal is to construct 2 buildings of 72 units each.  Among the 
upscale amenities being offered to the residents are a fitness center and club house, outdoor 
pool complete with cabanas, private park and playground area, fully fenced dog park, grilling 
areas, fire pits and bike storage areas. The proposed units will be 2 or 3 bedroom, 2 bath units, 
located in elevator buildings, each with one enclosed private garage space, as well as access to 
the additional 166 outdoor spaces available on site.  In total we believe these units and the 
multiple amenities included will make The Residences of Brookside Ridge the premier 
multifamily development in Tinley Park. 

 Currently the subject site is vacant but zoned R5 PD, which supports 144 units on the 
site.  The Petitioner is seeking approval for its proposed site plan as well as a Special Use permit 
to allow an amendment to the existing PD for the site.  The Residences at Brookside Ridge will 
make available many amenities not otherwise available in Tinley Park multifamily housing.  The 
project fits nicely with other developments in the area, single family, multifamily and 
commercial, while offering unique lifestyle options unavailable anywhere else locally.  The 
unique aspects of the Residences of Brookside Ridge along with its proximity to Metra offer an 
opportunity to attract a wider demographic to the Village of Tinley Park.   

 

  


































	1 05-18-2017 Plan Commission Agenda
	2 PC Minutes 20170504 - draft final
	3 First Baptist Church - Plat of Consolidation - Staff Report 20170518
	4 First Baptist Church - Draft Plat
	5 Parallel Verizon Cell Tower - 6775 Prosperi Drive - Staff Report 20170518
	6 Parallel Verzion Cell Tower - Back Up
	Parallel Prosperi Verizon Cell Tower_6775 Prosperi - Site Plan Approval Application Redacted
	Parallel Prosperi Verizon Cell Tower_6775 Prosperi - Special Use Permit Application Redacted
	Parallel Prosperi Verizon Cell Tower_6775 Prosperi - Special Use Standards
	Parallel Prosperi Verizon Cell Tower_6775 Prosperi - Summary for Special Use Tinley Park
	Parallel Prosperi Verzion Cell Tower - Submittal 20170502 Combined small
	TINLEY PARK 100CD PF 05 01 17
	D10664 - VZW9.4X11-GLCS-3_Base Model
	Lithonia Lighting OLW14 LED Wall Pack Spec Sheet


	7 The Residence at Brookside Glen - Staff Report 20170518
	8 The Residence at Brookside Glen - Back Up
	The Residence at Brookside Glen - Back Up_Redacted
	Plans for PC #1 smallest 5




